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INTRODUCTION AND RELIEF SOUGHT 
 

This Court should permit immediate appeal of the district court’s denial of 

class certification. The decision is premised on an incorrect legal standard that is at 

odds with the plain language of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act (“TVPA”), 

which resulted in a domino effect of legal errors, and an overarching and clearly 

erroneous factual finding.    
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hinged upon a clearly erroneous factual finding: 80% of the detained population 

chose not to work when, in fact, 
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Plaintiffs/Petitioners Gonzalo Bermudez Gutiérrez and Keysler Ramón Urbina 

Rojas joined the Amended Complaint. Doc. 87. 

After extensive discovery, Plaintiffs moved to certify (1) a Forced Labor 

Class; and (2) an Unjust Enrichment Class. Docs. 213, 213-1 at 8, 33-35. Plaintiffs 
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and perhaps be dispositive of—future merits determinations. Id. at 1276. With 

completed discovery involving numerous depositions and an exchange of over 

70,000 documents, this Court has a well-developed record for appellate review. Id. 

Finally, Petitioners will be “irreparabc3.5 (l)8.5 (ly,)6.1 ( )-8.]TJ
0 Tc -0.011 Tw8 
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could not establish classwide causation.1 This erroneous causation analysis was the 

district court’s basis for finding Plaintiffs could not establish numerosity, 

commonality, typicality, ascertainability, predominance and superiority under 

Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) for both proposed classes. Ex. 1 at 8-11. Absent this 

overarching error, the putative classes satisfy these and all other Rule 23 

requirements. Accordingly, the district court’s decision should be reversed.2 

“The interpretation of a statute begins with its language.” Barrientos, 951 

F.3d at 1276 (citations omitted). The Court first must “determine whether the 

language at issue has a plain and unambiguous meaning,” and, “[i]f so, [the Court] 

need go no further.” Id. (citations omitted).   

The TVPA’s forced labor provision, 18 U.S.C. §1589(a), provides a cause of 

action against:  

[w]hoever knowingly provides or obtains the labor or 
services of a person . . . (1) by means of force, threats of 
force, physical restraint, or threats of physical restraint to 
that person or another person; (2) by means of serious 
harm or threats of serious harm to that person or another 
person; (3) by means of the abuse or threatened abuse of 
law or legal process; or (4) by means of any scheme, plan, 
or pattern intended to cause the person to believe that, if 

 
1 Plaintiffs do not seek immediate appeal of the district court’s denial of class 
certification of their claim under §1589(a)(3) (abuse or threatened abuse of the 
legal process); however, they maintain the denial of certification of their claim that 
CoreCivic attempted to coerce labor through abuse or threatened abuse of the legal 
process under §1594(a) was an abuse of discretion. See infra Section III.A.  
2 The district court did not address Plaintiffs



 

7 
 

that person did not perform such labor or services, that 
person or another person would suffer serious harm or 
physical restraint.  

 
 Only under §1589(a)(3) (abuse of legal process) does the plain text of §1589 

require a factfinder to peer into the mindset of a victim to prove a violation, since 

Congress expressly included a subjective causation requirement only for that 

prong:  

The term “abuse or threatened abuse of law or legal 
process” means the use or threatened use of a law or legal 
process, whether administrative, civil, or criminal, in any 
manner or for any purpose for which the law was not 
designed, in order to exert pressure on another person to 
cause that person to take some action or refrain from 
taking some action. 

 
§1589(c)(1) (emphasis added). 

On the other hand, liability may attach under §1589(a)(2) (serious harm) 

based on an objective “reasonable person” standard.3 The statute defines “serious 

harm” in §1589 as  

 
3 Courts have routinely recognized that the plain language of §1589 establishes a 
reasonable person standard for causation. See, e.g., Owino v. CoreCivic, Inc., 60 
F.4th 437, 446 (9th Cir. 2022) (“CoreCivic’s argument that the TVPA necessitates 
a subjective, individualized inquiry fails due to contrary language in the statute.”) 
United States v. Rivera, 799 F.3d 180, 186-87 (2d Cir. 2015) (finding error, albeit 
harmless, where the court failed to instruct the jury that TVPA causation hinged on 
a “reasonable person” rather than the vic4) 
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any harm, whether physical or nonphysical, including 
psychological, financial, or reputational harm, that is 
sufficiently serious, under all the surrounding 
circumstances, to compel a reasonable person of the same 
background and in the same circumstances to perform or 
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unambiguous, the “judicial inquiry is complete.” Villarreal v. R.J. Reynolds 

Tobacco Co., 839 F.3d 958, 969 (11th Cir. 2016) (en banc) (citation omitted).5 

B. The Court Erred When It Applied a Subjective Test to Plaintiffs’ 
TVPA Claims. 
 

The district court abused its discretion when it applied a subjective test to 
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people with segregation or lockdown—which the district court found are “forms of 

physical restraint”—if they refuse to work. See Ex. 1 at 4-6.  

CoreCivic’s discipline policy establishes a plausible class-wide violation of 

§1589(a)(1) because threats of or actual physical restraint are unlawful means 

under the statute and every class member had notice of the policy. See Menocal v. 

GEO Grp., Inc., No. 14-CV-02887-JLK-MEH, 2022 WL 17038977, at *28 (D. 

Colo. Oct. 18, 2022) (denying defendant’s summary judgment motion on 

plaintiffs’ §1589(a)(1) claim because “the [TVPA] makes clear that a showing of 

serious harm is not required to prove a violation; physical restraint and threats of 

physical restraint are sufficient”). The district court wrongly suggested Plaintiffs 

could not show the punishment policy was uniformly coercive because the class 

members did not have notice of it. Ex. 1 at 12-13. This finding is a clear error 

because, as the district court noted, the sanctions appear in the handbook, see id. at 

5, and the handbook is provided to every detained person at SDC. Doc. 213-1 at 

16-17 (citing SDC warden’s testimony). Thus, Menocal and Owino—cases where 

courts certified forced labor classes because threats of segregation constitute 

physical restraint and all detained people had notice of those threats—are directly 

analogous to the case at bar, and the district court’s attempt to distinguish them is 

incorrect. See Ex. 1 at 12-13; Menocal, 2022 WL 17038977, at *33; Owino v. 

CoreCivic, No. 17-cv-1112-JLS-NLS, 2020 WL 1550218, at *21 (S.D. Cal. Apr. 1, 
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2020) (finding “threat of discipline was conveyed to all detainees at intake through 

the admission handbook”). 

Plaintiffs’ evidence similarly establishes that their “serious harm” claims 

under §1589(a)(2) and (4) are amenable to class certification because Plaintiffs can 

show with classwide proof that CoreCivic’s uniform policies would compel a 

reasonable class member to work. See generally Doc. 213-1 at 33 (listing common 

evidence). Plaintiffs also put forth evidence to show that class members share 

common attributes (non-citizens subject to immigration removal proceedings and 

uniform conditions at the same detention facility) permitting the factfinder to apply 

the reasonable person standard. Id. at 34; Nuñag-Tanedo, 2011 WL 7095434, at *8 

(certifying class where common attributes allowed the factfinder to apply the 

TVPA’s reasonable person standard). Under these circumstances, TVPA causation 

may be established with classwide proof. See Owino, 2020 WL 1550218, at *28 

(certifying class where plaintiffs established common policies would cause a 

reasonable detained person to labor).7  

 
7 The district court, relying on Cordoba v. DIRECTTV, 942 F.3d 1259 (11th Cir. 
2019), held that failure to show that causation can be established with classwide 
proof raises standing issues. Ex. 1 at 8. Here, because Plaintiffs can establish 
causation with classwide proof, certifying the class does not contravene this 
Court’s holding in Cordoba. See Cordoba, 942 F.3d at 1273 (holding that Rule 23 
does not require a showing that each class member has standing so long as Article 
III traceability may be established with classwide proof). 
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The district court also ignored Plaintiffs’ direct and circumstantial evidence 

showing that the policies did, in fact, coerce Plaintiffs and class members to work. 

This evidence shows classwide resolution of causation is possible, but the district 

court overlooked it because of its erroneous application of a subjective, necessarily 

individualized standard. Plaintiffs’ evidence included, inter alia, testimony from 

Plaintiffs that they worked to stave off hunger and avoid segregation, Ex. 1 at 7 

(citing Plaintiffs’ declarations);8 CoreCivic documents showing SDC implemented 

an incentive program offering food in exchange for work, Doc. 213-1 at 9-10; 

undisputed evidence that putative class members had notice of potential discipline, 

including segregation, for failing to work, id. at 16-17 (citing SDC warden’s 

testimony); and evidence that the positions available in CoreCivic’s Work Program 

were consistently filled, id. at 5-6, 25, 33. This evidence is sufficient to establish 

that TVPA causation can be shown with classwide proof here. See Owino, 60 F.4th 

at 446 (affirming certification of TVPA class in part because the statute’s causal 

element “may be inferred by class-wide evidence”); Menocal v. GEO Grp., Inc., 

882 F.3d 905, 918 (10th Cir. 2018) (
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inquiry. Id. at 13 n.5. Such clearly erroneous fact finding warrants this Court’s 

review. Dresdner Bank AG v. M/V Olympia Voyager, 446 F.3d 1377, 1380 (11th 

Cir. 2006).  

At most, only 20% of the detained population can participate in the Work 

Program at SDC at any given time. See Ex. 1 at 3 (“In 2021, there were 

approximately 326 job openings for detainee workers at Stewart, which has a 

design capacity of about 1,700 detainees.”) (citing SDC Work Program Plan 

Guidelines); Doc. 213-1 at 5 (compiling evidence showing that only between 326 

and 336 work program jobs were available during the class period); Doc. 213-11 at 

61:9-12 (former SDC warden testifying that SDC has confined as many as 2,000 

people during the class period). There is no evidence in the record J
0 Tc 0 Tw 2.325 0 Td[(t)8.5ern 
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potential work program participants. Doc. 213-1 at 5.9 Approximately 20% of the 

total detained population participated in the Work Program from December 2008 

to December 2020. Ex. 1 at 3 
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III. THE DISTRICT COURT’S USE OF THE INCORRECT 
CAUSATION STANDARD ALSO LED TO A CASCADE OF 
LEGAL ERRORS IN DENYING CLASS CERTIFICATION OF 
THE ATTEMPT, RULE 23(B)(2), AND UNJUST ENRICMENT 
CLAIMS. 
 

A. The District Court’s Application of the Subjective Causation Standard to 
the Plaintiff’s TVPA Attempt Claim is Contrary to the Statute’s Plain 
Language. 
 

Plaintiffs also asserted a claim that CoreCivic attempted to subject them and 

the putative class to forced labor. 18 U.S.C. §1594(a) (“Whoever attempts to 

violate [18 U.S.C. §1589] shall be punishable in the same manner as a completed 

violation of that section.”); Doc. 87 ¶115. Section 1595(a) plainly provides for a 

civil cause of action for an “individual who is a victim of a violation of this chapter 

[18 U.S.C. chapter 77],” which includes §1594(a) (the attempt provision).   

The district court improperly denied class certification of the attempt claim 

by applying a subjective causation standard to conclude that no “person who is 

impervious to attempted coercion is nonetheless a ‘victim’ within the meaning of 

§1595(a).” Ex. 1 at 11 n.4. But the district court disregards the ordinary meaning of 

“victim,” which is a person who has been harmed. See, e.g., Victim, Black’s Law 

Dictionary (8th ed. 2004) (“A person harmed by a crime, tort, or other wrong.”); 

Am. Heritage College Dictionary 1528 (4th ed. 2010) (defining “victim” as “[o]ne 
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who is harmed or killed by another,” and “[o]ne harmed by or made to suffer from 

an act, circumstance, agency, or condition”).11 

Courts have repeatedly found that attempt claims under the TVPA create 

civil causes of actions. See, e.g., Ratha v. Phatthana Seafood Co., 35 F.4th 1159, 

1176 n.16 (9th Cir. 2022) (reading the term “perpetrator” in §1595(a) to include 

people who have committed an “attempt” under §1594(a)); Fouche v. United 

States, No. 3:21-CV-00050-BSM, 2021 WL 5567302, at *2 (E.D. Ark. Nov. 29, 

2021); Saraswat v. Selva Jayaraman, Bus. Integra, Inc., No. 15-cv-4680-PKC-LB, 

2016 WL 5408115, at *2 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 28, 2016) (“The TVPA extends liability 

to whoever attempts to violate Section 1589” (internal quotations omitted)); 

Nuñag-Tanedo v. E. Baton Rouge Parish Sch. Bd., 790 F. Supp. 2d 1134, 1147 

(C.D. Cal. 2011) (holding plaintiffs alleged sufficient facts showing an attempt to 

engage in a forced labor scheme). And several courts have granted class 

certification for attempted forced labor claims under §§1589, 1594(a). See, e.g., 

Novoa, 2019 WL 7195331, at *10, *20; Paguirigan, 2018 WL 4347799, at *4, 

*10; Nuñag-Tanedo, 2011 WL 7095434, at *11. 

 
11 Because a defendant need only possess specific intent and undertake a 
substantial step toward commission of an underlying crime in order to commit an 
attempt, United States v. Yost, 479 F.3d 815, 819 (11th Cir. 2007), an attempt need 
not result in the ultimate harm that might accompany a completed violation. Thus, 
in any att
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The district court’s conclusion that not all class members experienced 

subjective feelings of coercion and therefore are not “victims” contravenes the 

plain language of §1595(a). Accordingly, the denial of class certification of 

Plaintiffs’ attempt claim should be reversed.  

B. The District Court’s Use of the Incorrect Causation Standard Also 
Pervaded its Evaluation of the 23(b)(2) Injunctive Relief Class.  
 

The district court abused its discretion when it denied Rule 23(b)(2) 

certification of the Forced Labor and Unjust Enrichment Classes. Although the 

district court acknowledged that “policies and practices may have existed that 

applied to every putative class member who chose to participate in the program,” 

Ex. 1 at 8, the district court’s emphasis on those policies and practices’ subjective 

effect on individual class members—resulting in a lack of predominance—has no 

bearing on the Rule 23(b)(2) inquiry, id. at 10. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) 

advisory committee’s note to 1966 amendment, 39 F.R.D. 69, 102 (1966) (“Action 

or inaction is directed to a class within the meaning of this subdivision even if it 

has taken effect or is threatened only as to one or a few members of the class, 

provided it is based on grounds which have general application to the class.”).   

Plaintiffs have satisfied the Rule 23(b)(2) requirements because injunctive 

and declaratory relief would stop CoreCivic from continuing these policies or 

practices applied uniformly at SDC. See Novoa, 2021 WL 4913286, at *7. Because 

of the court’s improper causation analysis (which was determinative for all Rule 23 
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factors discussed in the opinion, see supra at Sections I-III.A) and its effective 

application of a predominance requirement to the Rule 23(b)(2) class, Wal-Mart 

Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 564 U.S. 338, 360 (2011), the denial of Rule 23(b)(2) class 

certification should also be reversed.  

C. The District Court’s Use of an Incorrect Legal Standard Also Infected Its 
Determination of Plaintiffs’ Unjust Enrichment Claim.  
 

To establish a claim of unjust enrichment under Georgia law, Plaintiffs must 
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CONCLUSION 

  For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant review of the order 

denying certification of the two classes and reverse. 

 

Dated: April 11, 2023      Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
/s/ Meredith B. Stewart 
Meredith B. Stewart 
SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER 
201 St. Charles Avenue, Suite 2000 
New Orleans, LA 70170 
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force the detainees to keep working, including (1) a “deprivation 

scheme” which threatens work program participants with serious 

harm if they refuse to work and (2) a practice of physically 

restraining work program participants who refuse to work.  The 
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In keeping with ICE’s rules, Stewart work program 

participants are paid at least $1 per day.  Their earnings are 

deposited into their trust accounts.  Detainees may save the money, 

spend it in the commissary, or send it to friends or family.  The 

Stewart commissary offers phone cards, soft drinks, snacks, 

condiments, limited groceries like tuna and ramen, personal care 

items like shampoo and toothpaste, limited clothing like t-shirts 

and underwear, and other items.  See, e.g., Pls.’ Mot. Class 

Certification Ex. 89, 2015 Inventory Sales Report, ECF No. 213-

93.  To purchase items, a detainee must have money in his detainee 

trust fund.  Detainees may receive funds from outside sources or 

may earn m000400000912 0 612 792 re
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common practices at Stewart which would permit a factfinder to 

conclude that the food at Stewart was inadequate in both 

nutritional value and amount.  They also submitted evidence of 

Stewart’s practices regarding the provision of clothing and 

hygiene items, laundering of clothes, and housing assignments, 

though this evidence does not strongly support an inference that 

detainees were exposed to serious harm based on these practices. 

Plaintiffs assert that after detainees join the work program, 

they are coerced to remain in the program because they are subject 

to physical restraint if they refuse to work.  Work program 

participants are “expected to be ready to report for work at the 

required time and may not leave an assignment without permission.”  

2016 ICE Standards § 5.8(V)(M).  They “may not evade attendance 

and performance standards [or] encourage others to do so.”  Id.  

Detainees may be removed from the work program because of unexcused 

absences.  Pls.’ Mot. Class Certification Ex. 36, Stewart Detainee 

Voluntary Work Program Policy § 19-100.4(H)(3), ECF No. 213-40; 

Trinity Servs. Grp. 30(b)(6) Dep. 419:3-5, ECF No. 233-1.  

Detainees who are removed from the work program can no longer earn 

money to purchase items at Stewart’s commissary. 

Refusal to work may result in discipline in addition to 

removal from the work program, including “lockdown” or 

“segregation,” for refusing to work.  See Pls.’ Mot. Class 

Certification Ex. 38, SDC Detainee Handbook 35, ECF No. 213-42 
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The named Plaintiffs joined the work program to get extra 

food, and they remained in the program to keep getting extra food 

and to avoid discipline.  Urbina Rojas Decl. ¶¶ 17-19, 44, ECF No. 

213-79; Bermudez Gutierrez Decl. ¶¶ 20, 37, ECF No. 213-57; Hill 

Barrientos Decl. ¶¶ 12, 31. 

II. Analysis

joined the 
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The claim that detainees were trapped in the work program 

once they signed up for it suffers from the same commonality, 

typicality, and predominance problems.  There are several reasons 

why some putative class members may have wished to remain in the 

program voluntarily—including earning funds to buy non-essential 

items from the commissary 
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that could otherwise explain the class members’ conduct.  In 

Menocal v. GEO Group, Inc., for example, the Tenth Circuit found 

that the detainees were subjected to a uniform policy under which 

detainees were threatened with physical restraint or serious harm 

if they refused to perform mandatory unpaid cleaning assignments.  

882 F.3d 905, 916-17 (10th Cir. 2018).  The Tenth Circuit further 

concluded that because the class members received notice of the 

sanitation policy’s terms (including possible sanctions for 

refusing to clean) and performed work when they were assigned to 

do so, a clear inference was that the sanitation policy caused the 

detainees to work.  Id. at 919-920.  Significantly, the defendant 

in Menocal did not point to any evidence to rebut the common 

inference of causation.  Id. at 921; see also Owino v. CoreCivic, 

Inc., 60 F.4th 437, 446 (9th Cir. 2022) (considering sanitation 

policy similar to the one in Menocal and finding no abuse of 

discretion where the district court concluded “that a factfinder 

could reasonably draw a class-wide causation inference” from the 

uniform policy).  In contrast, here, Plaintiffs did not demonstrate 

that the work program policies are uniformly coercive, such that 

no reasonable detainee would join or remain in the Stewart work 

program voluntarily, absent the potential for serious harm or 

physical restraint.5  Thus, this is not a case like Menocal or 

 
5 To rescue their motion for class certification, Plaintiffs may argue 

that they are willing to assume the burden of proving at trial that the 
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spoliation sanctions,” although Georgia law provides guidance that 

the Court may consider. Flury v. Daimler Chrysler Corp., 427 F.3d 

939, 944 (11th Cir. 2005).  Spoliation sanctions “are intended to 

prevent unfair prejudice to litigants and to insure the integrity 

of the discovery process.”  Id.  The Court has “broad discretion” 

to impose sanctions for spoliation of evidence.  Id.  The most 

severe sanctions, like adverse inference instructions to the jury, 

“are reserved for exceptional cases, generally only those in which 

the party lost or destroyed material evidence intentionally in bad 

faith and thereby prejudiced the opposing party in an uncurable 

way.”  Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Koch, 812 S.E.2d 256, 261 (Ga. 

2018) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Phillips v. 
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Plaintiffs also did not establish how they were prejudiced by 

CoreCivic’s failure to preserve the other detention files.  There 

is no contention that Plaintiffs would be able to establish the 

class certification requirements if they had access to the files.  

Plaintiffs’ chief concern is that CoreCivic’s motion to exclude 

one of their experts rested in part on his failure to consider 

enough detainee grievances and disciplinary reports.  But, as 

discussed below, the motions to exclude the experts are moot, and 

the Court declines to impose spoliation sanctions based on the 

failure to preserve the other detention files. 

II. The Parties’ Motions to Exclude Experts 

The parties also filed motions to strike the proposed 

testimony of three experts under Federal Rule of Evidence 702 and 

Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 590 U.S. 579 (1993).   

First, CoreCivic seeks to strike Plaintiffs’ psychiatrist 

expert, Dr. PabloBT
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established on a class-wide basis using common evidence or that 

common issues predominate over individual ones.  The Court 

terminates the motion to exclude Dr. Stewart (ECF Nos. 247 & 253) 

Second, CoreCivic moves to strike Plaintiffs’ economist 

expert, Steven Schwartz.  Plaintiffs rely on Dr. Schwartz to 

establish a class-wide damages model.  Because the Court concludes 

that the issue of causation cannot be determined on a class-wide 

basis, the Court finds that it need not consider whether Dr. 

Schwartz class-wide damages model reliably measures the damages 

suffered by the putative class members.  The Court terminates the 

motion to exclude Dr. Schwartz (ECF Nos. 248 & 254). 

Finally, Plaintiffs move to strike CoreCivic’s psychiatric 

expert, Dr. Joseph Penn.  The Court did not consider Dr. Penn’s 

opinion in ruling on the motion for class certification, so the 

Court terminates the motion to exclude Dr. Penn (ECF Nos. 215 & 

239) as moot. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Court finds that 

Plaintiffs did not meet their burden to prove that the class 

certification requirements are met for the two classes they seek 

to certify.  Accordingly, the Court denies Plaintiffs’ motion for 

class certification (ECF Nos. 213 & 238).  The Court also denies 

Plaintiffs’ motion for spoliation sanctions (ECF Nos. 263 & 265).  

The motions to exclude experts (ECF Nos. 215, 239, 247, 248, 253, 
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254) are terminated as moot.  Given the Court’s ruling on class 

certification, the only claims remaining in this action are the 

individual claims of the named Plaintiffs. 

 IT IS SO ORDERED, this 28th day of March, 2023. 

s/Clay D. Land 

CLAY D. LAND 

U.S. DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 
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